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In recent decades the Hungarian cultural and art historical literature has been increas-
ingly interested in the funeral rites of the modern era. Related studies are concerned
with the varieties, visual aspects and symbolism of the funeral ceremonies as well as the
artistic values of the different tools and equipment used. They focus mainly on royal,
princely or aristocratic funerary practices of the 16—17" century from Hungary and Tran-
sylvania and only rarely deal with cases from later centuries. Among them we can find
source publications concerning funeral regulations and case studies presenting funeral
objects of artistic importance, such as the funeral coat of arms, flags, epitaphs, tombs,
sepulchral monuments and the ephemeral constructions known as Castrum Doloris.?

In line with the discourse mentioned above, this study focuses on the funeral cer-
emony of Sdndor Kérolyi from 1744 and on the artworks and architectural monument
linked to it. Crossing historical and geographical boundaries, it will follow the research
methods of previous related studies, trying to contribute to the knowledge about 18"
century burial customs and funeral art.

The burial places of the Kérolyi family until the mid-18™ century

The Kaérolyi de Nagykaroly family is one of the oldest Hungarian aristocratic families.
They are traditionally believed to have descended from the Kaplon clan (genus), which
won its possessions at the time of the Hungarian Conquest.® Among their first proper-
ties were Kaplony (Cépleni, Satu Mare county, Romania), named after the denomina-
tion of the genus and Nagykdroly (Carei), from which the family received its name.*

The first burial place of the Kérolyi family was in the Benedictine monastery built
in Kaplony at the end of the 11" century, which was shared with other families (Bagossy,
Csomakozy, Vetéssy, Vaday) who belonged to the same Kaplony genus.’ By the begin-
ning of the 17" century the monastery from Kaplony had been abandoned completely,
therefore the deceased family members were buried in Nagykaroly.

Nagykaroly, located only at a distance of 6 kilometres from Kaplony, became the
permanent residence of the Kérolyi family at the end of the 15™ century; the manor
house and later the castle functioned as the center of the estate from this time.® After
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the church of Kaplony was abandoned, the medieval church of Nagykaroly served as
final resting place of the Karolyi family.”

It is interesting to mention that although from the mid-16"™ century this parish
church came into the use of the protestant community, some Catholic members of the
family such as Mihdly Karolyi I. (+1626) and his wife, Borbala Segnyei de Lapispatak
(tafter 1648) were buried here.® The reason for this is that in that period the entire
county of Szatmdr had only three catholic parishes, none of them situated on the estate
of the Kérolyi family.”

In the second half of the 17" century Mihdly Karolyi’s sons, Adam and L&szlé
were significant and active participants of the Counter-Reformation movement from
Szatmar County. Adam Karolyi invited the Jesuits to Nagykaroly,'® and later his broth-
er, Laszl6 took over from the Protestants the former Virgin Mary Church with force,
which was situated within the castle of Szatmar, in order to hand it over at the disposal
of the Jesuits. Addm (t 1661) and L4sz16 (+1686) were buried in this church.'*

The church of Nagykéroly was taken back from the Protestants to the Catholics in
1723."% This was facilitated by the increase of the catholic population in the town caused
by the colonization of catholic Swabians that was started in 1712."* In these events
Séandor Kérolyi (Lasz1d’s son) played an important role; he founded a Piarist monastery
here for the ensurance of the spiritual, ecclesiastical and educational tasks.'"* During
this period Sdndor Karolyi’s young deceased grandchildren, Sdandor (t1728), Mihdly
(t1731), J6zsef (t1734) and Boriska Kléra (+1736) were buried in the crypt located under
the church.»

Before settling the Piarists in Nagykaroly, Sindor Kérolyi invited Franciscan
monks to Kaplony in 1711. He also decided about the renovation of the deserted, ruined
church, and the building of a new crypt at its southern wall. The construction works
took place between 1711 and 1740."° The character of the renovated building remained
unchanged until the middle of the 19" century. In 1834 an earthquake caused such
damage in the building that a reconstruction was needed. These constructions took
place between 1844 and 1847. The plans of the new building and of the new crypt in
the eastern continuation of the apse erected in neo-Romanesque style, were made by
the architect Miklés Ybl.

The mausoleum of Sandor Karolyi from Kaplony

The idea of building a new mausoleum came about by Sdndor Karolyi whose aim was
to create a permanent and proper burial place for himself and his descendants. We
have only little data concerning this construction. The most important sources are
Miklés Ybl's surveying plans and sketches realized at around 1842 about the renovated
medieval church and the baroque crypt. Among these we can find the elevation of the
southern and eastern facades, a section and a floor plan sketch.'”

The mausoleum was attached to the full length of the southern wall of the church
and consisted of two parts: a three-bayed Crypt and stretching westward of it a one-
bayed chapel with southern semicircular termination. (Fig. 1.) The small chapel,
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Fig. 1. The floor-plan sketch of the former Franciscan church and the Karolyi crypt from Kaplony,
drawn around 1842 by Ybl Miklés. Budapest City Archives, Budapest. Inv. Nr. : XV.331/5-1

crowned with a baroque bulb helmet could have been accessed via five stairs from the
church. The crypt opened from this chapel, through an iron door and was sunk into
the ground, thus from the outside it looked much lower than the chapel. The south wall
was punctuated by three narrow windows and it had a pent roof. (Fig. 2.)

We do not have much information
about the interior arrangement of the
chapel, but we know from the monograph
of Antal Szirmay that it contained an al-
tar of Virgin Mary. According to the tra-
dition the icon of Virgin Mary currently
located in the cloister of the monastery
corresponds to the former altar of the
chapel, but this information cannot be
proved due to missing archival sources.

On Ybl’s sectional drawing the sys-
tem of the old crypts is visible beneath
the eastern part of the three naves of the
church.’® The crypt with barrel-vault
ceiling beneath the central nave was
most probably built in the 18" century
and served as a burial place for Sindor

T ey 1
Fig. 2. The southern facade of the former
Franciscan church and the Karolyi crypt from
Kaplony drawn around 1842 by Ybl Miklés.
National Office of Cultural Heritage,
Budapest, Collection of architectural
drawings: Inv. Nr. K 3203
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Karolyi’s relatives: Judit Kohdry (+1718), his mother-in-law, Krisztina Barkéczi (t1724),
his wife and Krisztina Cséky (+1736), his daughter-in law."

On the eastern side of this crypt, under the southern and northern lateral aisles,
the medieval crypt with extended rectangular plan was located. This space was com-
plemented with a north-east orientated transversal extension beneath the eastern side-
apse.”®

The crypt built by Sdndor Karolyi subsequently replaced these earlier, medieval
crypts. The construction had probably been finished by 1737. This assumption is based
on a chronogram published by Szirmay, which has unfortunately been destroyed.*
Simultaneously with the finish of the construction, the above mentioned family crypt
fell out of use and its entrance was closed by a red marble slab decorated with the three
coats of arms of the deceased (Kohary, Barkdczi, Csaky) who were buried here.**

The first member of the Karolyi family to find final rest in this new mausoleum
was the builder, Sandor Karolyi. Later the ashes of the ancestors who were buried in
the medieval church of Nagykéroly along with the three coffins from the subterranean
crypt from Kaplony were transported here as well.

Sandor Karolyi

Sandor Karolyi, the son of Laszl6 Karolyi and Erzsébet Segnyey was born on July 2™
1669 in Nagykaroly. As a result of his activity, his family rose on the social ladder; he
managed to increase their wealth by accumulating great estates and by building up
an outstanding political carrier. He had important functions and titles: Comes Com-
itatus Satmariensis (1687-1743), Tabulae Regiae Assessor (1694). On April 29", 1711
as the commander of the Kuruc army he signed the so-called , Treaty of Szatmdr” at
Nagykadroly, which officially ended the Kuruc Rebellion. In the same year he obtained
the title of Count and was nominated Lieutenant General. In addition, he possessed
the title of royal commissioner (1715) and was a member of the emperor’s closest advi-
sors known as the Privy Council or Geheimrat (1723) and Cavalry General (from 1723).
In 1724 he became lieutenant councilor (member of the so-called Consilium Regium
Locum tenentiale Hungaricum) and director of Commissariatus Provincialis. Also, he
was the owner of a Hungarian cavalry regiment, which he founded at his own expense
in 1734. Finally, he obtained the status of military commander and field marshal of the
Transtibiscan district (starting from 1741).*°

Sandor Kérolyi increased the family fortune with large estates and left behind
more land than he had inherited. In 1708 he obtained the Erdéd, in 1722 the Csongrad,
and in 1723 the Béltek (Beltiug, Satu Mare district) estates. In 1730 due to his wife’s
wedding dowry, the family estate was enlarged by the Surdny estates, complemented
with the bordering Surany-Megyer estate in the same year through purchase.*

At the same time he continued to play an important role in the Habsburg lead
recatholization politics; he moved catholic Swabian settlers in the almost depopulated
villages of the central family estate from Satu Mare County and reacquired the churches
for them from the protestant denomination. He founded two monasteries: the Francis-



“Regnavit Alexander et mortuus est” 83

can in Kaplony and the Piarist in Nagykéroly. His name is linked to many ecclesiastical
constructions as he was an important patron of church and chapel buildings.

The death (1743) and the funeral ceremony of Sandor Karolyi

Sandor Karolyi died at the age of 75, on September 8, 1743. Two days later his body was
placed into a wooden coffin and on the 15" of September his remains were transferred
to Nagykdroly to be laid out in the chapel of the castle. The acquisition of the funeral
equipment (coffin, embroidered coats of arms, burial flag, candles, different textiles,
etc.), the organization and preparation of the funeral ceremony and process, the send-
ing out of death notification letters and funeral invitations was done by his son, Ferenc
Karolyi. The social, political and economic situation of the family required outstanding
care in planning every detail of the funeral. The outbreak of the plague epidemic and
the bad weather conditions of the approaching winter season also delayed the burial,
therefore Ferenc Kérolyi had more than nine months at his disposal to complete these
duties. Finally the date of the funeral was set to 22" June, 1744.

Nagykaroly belonged to the diocese of Eger, thus the burial ceremony was per-
formed according to the so called “Rituale Strigoniense”, a ritual book, published by
Péter Pdzmany in 1625.>° Ferenc Kérolyi expressed in a letter to the Bishop of Eger,
Gébor Erdddy, his concerns regarding the procedure of the ceremony. He was worried
about the bishop following the official regulations of the funerals instead of the local
traditions, for which he expressed his preference.?® It seems in the end Ferenc Karolyi
managed to carry out his will, so the bishop’s role in the planning of the ceremony was
limited to the liturgy only.

Some of these old local traditions are mentioned in the work of Péter Apor writ-
ten in 1746 with the title “Metamorphosis Transilvaniae”, where the author presents
the customs of the Transylvanian nobility. These, however, were probably in use in
the entire county and used by the whole Hungarian aristocratic society with slighter
or bigger differences, depending on individual financial means. In his work Apor lists
multiple elements and tools of the funeral customs which can be identified in Sindor
Karolyi’s funeral: the silk coats of arms which decorated the coffin, the funeral edifice
built at the house of the deceased, covered with black draperies, the distribution of the
coat of arms and candles among the members of the funeral procession, the epitaph
and decorative weapons placed around the coffin, the structure of the so-called cas-
trum doloris, built in the church and decorated with emblems, coat of arms, poems,
candles, among others.”

The funeral ceremony of Sdndor Kérolyi can be reconstructed based on its con-
temporary German language description, which is kept in the family archives of the
National Archives of Hungary.?® From this document we learn that for the day of the
funeral the coffin was transported to a temporary building (“herrliche Gebdu”) suitable
for 6-7,000 people, located in the garden of the castle in Nagykaroly. The construction
stood on 12 stone pillars (“auf 12 von gebraunten Steinerner bauten Sdulen”), it was
covered with black cloth, and on the sides decorated with green branches. The coffin,
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placed on a 3 feet high catafalque situated in the middle of the tent, similarly to the
catafalque, was covered with black textiles and decorated with six coats of arms of the
family, embroidered with metallic filament on silk (“reichest von Goldt und bullion
gestickten Wappen seiner Gentilitdt”) and 12 black candles and torches.

The funeral ceremony took place in this temporary building. The guests, delegates
of the counties, family members, clergy and the representatives of the Jesuit, Piarist,
Minorite and Observant Franciscan orders lined up in a previously specified order. The
Episcopal stall stood on a 3 feet high platform, 4 steps away from the coffin. The cer-
emony began with the prayer “Oremus pro fidelibus Defunctis” intoned by the Bishop
of Eger and was accompanied by various musicians. Ferenc Karolyi stood by the head
of the deceased together with Thomas Berényi and Antal Grassalkovich. Three steel-
clad men were placed near the coffin; one of them stood at the foot of the deceased and
held a black emblazoned flag embroidered with gold and silver threads (“eine schwarze
von gross Detormit Goldt und bullion sehr reichgestickten grossen Wappen Fahnen”),
another one stood on the right-hand side and held a saber on a red pillow, decorated
with precious stones (“Edelgesteinen Kostbar besetzten Sébel”); finally the one on the
left-hand side held a silver-gilt mace (“einen schwer massivi Silber und vergolten Un-
garischen Streit-Kolben”) and a red Hungarian fur headgear with a decorated crest of
plumes (“rothen ungarischen Poltz — Mitzen [Pelz-Miitze] mit ebenfahls aus gold und
silber in fligel form Kiinstlich ausgearbeiteten feder Busch geziret”).

The Hungarian preaching was delivered from a provisional pulpit by Gerge-
ly Tapolcsanyi, theology professor and the superior of the Piarist monastery from
Nagykaroly, followed by a sung ode consisting of 180 verses and a dirge.”” During the
Hungarian service the provincial of the Minorite order preached in German for the
Swabiansin another tent. After the liturgy the participants followed the coffin in a pre-
defined order to the crypt in Kaplony. The funeral procession was headed by two eq-
uerries (“Stall-maister) dressed in black, followed by the nobility and the cavalry of
Szatmar county divided in four groups of a hundred people each and headed by an
officer holding a flag. They were succeeded by the group of Calvinists conducted by
their bishops, pastors, schoolmasters and the groups of Greek Catholic Ruthenians and
Romanians under 12 flags.

Further back in the funeral procession the Swabian population was organized in 8
groups, two squadrons of the Beleznay hussar regiment conducted by colonel Miklés
Eo6tvos, marching under two embroidered flags with drums and trumpets, the cuiras-
siers regiment of Prince Theodor Lubomirski with flags and trumpets, the infantry
artillery, accompanied by a group of armed pedestrians and hundred equerries dressed
in black. After them walked six steeds with decorative horse tacks, saddles and embroi-
dered saddle blankets lead by 14 officials (“Hoft-Beamten”) in green cloths. The gilded
copper coffin (“Kupfer Kunstlich getribene vergolt und versiilberte ja auf das schon-
ste hin und wider gemarmolierte Sarg”) was placed on a wagon drawn by six horses
covered with black textile. Next to the car were two horses covered with a black cloth
reaching to the ground and led by four servants. Six horses drew the wagon, on which
the wooden coffin with the corpse was placed outside the town. This tall, black-coated
tiered wagon with black candles is called Castrum Doloris (,Der Trauerwagen, inson-
sten Castrum Doloris genannt®) in the description. The Greek Catholic clergy marched
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next to it, along with the representatives of the Franciscan and Minorite orders, the
chorus, 24 Piarist and 12 Jesuit monks, the regular clergy, the bishop and numerous
high-ranking members of the clergy. The armored flag-bearer walked in front of the
wooden coffin.

12 men in black carried the wooden coffin. Alongside them the armoured men
processed, carrying weapons and other symbols of power. They were followed by Fe-
renc Karolyi in the company of Tamas Berényi and Antal Grassalkovich and other no-
blemen. Kldra Kérolyi, the daughter of Sdndor Kérolyi with his husband, Gdbor Haller
and the female relatives and guests were walking next to them. The queue was ended
by the troops of the county.

At the entrance of the marketplace the body was taken over by 12 county officials,
than by the Franciscans, Minorites and Piarists in succession. They transported the
coffin until the city border accompanied by bell ringing. Here the wooden coffin was
placed in the middle of the funeral wagon, the armored flag-bearing knight got on his
horse, the bishop and the aristocratic dignitaries also got on their carts and proceeded
to Kaplony. Here the Franciscans carried the corpse in the church and placed it on the
castrum doloris, while a choral requiem was performed. After the Hungarian preaching
of Istvdn Novdk, an Observant Franciscan monk,* the coffin was carried to the chapel
of the crypt where it was placed in the already prepared copper coffin. After the ceremo-
ny the mourners went back to Nagykaroly where they participated in the funeral wake.

The funeral sermon of Sdndor Kérolyi featured a number of theatrical elements,
which fit organically into the context of the Transylvanian burial traditions and rites,
carrying significant medieval content. The importance of this example lies in the fact
that it incorporates elements reflecting a period of transition. We can notice that
besides the ambition for representing prestige as well as theatricality specific of the
baroque era, the personality cult of the deceased also has an important role. Some
items were simplified, for example the two alter egos personifying the dead person — a
characteristic element of the earlier centuries that originated from the chivalric cul-
ture — disappeared, but the armored horseman carrying the funeral flag, and his two
companions carrying objects symbolizing the military merits of the deceased can be
interpreted as a reminiscence of this tradition.

It should also be pointed out that 15 years later the funeral ceremony of Sdndor
Karolyi served as a model for the burial of his son, Ferenc Karolyi. In the latter case,
it can be observed that the funeral procession became more simplified. The elements
related to the military career of the deceased, as well as the number of armed troops
were reduced. However, it consisted of the same elements organized in a very simi-
lar order. In this latter procession — which can be reconstructed from various drafts
and a drawing — similarly to the previous occasion, the following took part: groups of
the different religious denominations and nationalities, cavalry troops of the county,
three armored men carrying the burial flag, the sword, the mace and the Hungarian
fur headgear with crest; a troop wearing black mourning dresses, two officers in black
riding alone in front and behind them, 12 men holding burning torches by the coffin,
horses “dressed” in color or covered with floor-length textiles, and so on.**

These visual elements of the funeral (the mace, the sword and the headgear with
crest, the coat of arms, the funeral and the various military flags, the decorative sad-
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dles and horse tools, the mortuarium horses covered in black, the horse-drawn hearse
with a layered structure, and the copper coffin) are the most important elements of the
funeral rite and beside their cultural and historical importance they have a remarkably
artistic significance as well.

Funeral supplies

According to Szirmay the cost of a funeral was 30,000 forints.** A relatively long pe-
riod was at the disposal of the family for the acquisition of the funeral supplies. The
most important accessories of the funeral include the coat of arms, flags, the coffin, the
objects exposed next to the coffin indicating the military career of Sandor Karolyi, the
ephemeral architectural constructions like the building erected in the castle’s park or
the castrum doloris from Kaplony.

Funeral coat of arms or epithaps

In Hungary during the 17"—18" centuries the funeral coat of arms or epitaphs were im-
portant elements of the funeral ceremonies. They had two important parts: the coat of
arm of the family of the deceased and an inscription containing information about his
or her pedigree, social status, wealth and death. They can be divided into two groups:
those which were hung on the wall of the churches to keep the memory and assure the
representation of the deceased in the ceremonies, made of precious metal or of painted
and gilded wood, and the second group of painted coats of arms with ephemeral char-
acters made for the purpose of the ceremony specifically. The latter were painted on
silk or paper and could decorate the pall covering the coffin, the bier, the castrum dolo-
ris or the locations of the ceremony. In this group belonged the coat of arms made usu-
ally in a large number, which was distributed among the members of the procession.
Before presenting Sandor Karolyi’s funeral coat of arms we need to take a look at
the history of the family’s coat of arms. The ancestral coat of arms of the Karolyi family
consisted of a round-based shield with a sparrow-hawk with expanded or folded wings
standing on a hill or cliff. Following 1609 when Mihdly Karolyi (1585-1626) gained the
title of baron from King Matthias II, the family began to use an extended version of it.
In the subsequent version the sparrow-hawk expands its wings and turns its head to
the right and in his upraised right claw holds a heart, being surrounded and supported
by a crowned dragon-serpent which bites its tail with its mouth.*® When on April 5
1712 Sandor Karolyi received the title of count from emperor Charles VI in recognition
of his merits, the coat of arms of the family, according to the habits of the time, was ex-
panded with the coat of arms of their related families. The form of the new coat of arm
was established and depicted by the diploma of donation. In this new coat of arms the
old coat of arms of the family appears as a heart shield in the centre of a pointed-based
shield, which is divided into five sections. In these fields appear armorial elements from
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Fig. 3. Sdndor Kérolyi's funeral coat of arm. Hungarian National Museum, Budapest, Textile
Collection. Inv. Nr. 1907. 123. Embroidery on taft-silk. 124x96 cm. 1744. Published by: Laszl Bajak

the coat of arms of the Sennyey (de Kissennye), Barkdczy and Perényi families. Above
the shield a crown with eleven silver balls is placed (these are known as pearls), man-
tling in the shape of leaves and three visored helmets with crowns, on which figures
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from the coats of arms of the Seghnyey (de Lapispatak), Kohary and Thurzé families
are lying. The supporters of the coat of arm are two double-tailed lions, each holding a
silver and red colored swallow-tailed flag, surrounded by military emblems.**

We learn from the description of the funeral of Sindor Karolyi that the coffin of
the deceased was covered with black textile from which they hung six coats of arms,
embroidered with metallic filament (“6 auf das reichest von Goldt und bullion gestick-
ten Wappen seiner Gentilitit”). These are probably equivalent with the baron’s coat of
arm, which was taken over by the other families belonging to the Kaplony gens as well.*®

The supplies from Sandor Karolyi’s funeral include an embroidered silk-taft epi-
taph, today part of the Textile Collection of the Hungarian National Museum.*® (Fig. 3.)
The funeral arms were very popular in that period, and they were painted mostly on
paper, wood and rarely on silk; the embroidered funeral coats of arms were uncommon
because of their costliness and long production period, therefore in most of the cases
only the funeral flags of the aristocracy were decorated with embroidery.

The description of the funeral is not mentioning this epitaph with outstanding ar-
tistic value, but it is presumable that it was placed in front of the catafalque from where
after the funeral ceremony it was moved onto the wall of the crypt or chapel from
Kaplony in order to keep the memory of the deceased. It is important to note that it is
the earliest epitaph known related to the Karolyi family. The later coats of arms were
made using different techniques, the coats of arms of Ferenc Karolyi and Antal Kérolyi
were embroidered on silk, but the later ones, made during the 19"—20" centuries were
more simple and painted on paper.*’

The 124x96 cm epitaph of Sdndor Kdrolyi is embroidered with coloured spun silk
yarn, silver and gold metallic thread, metallic lamella and crinkle wires (Bouillon) and
flitter is also used. The embroidery is in accordance with the traditional arrangements
of the epitaphs: the coat of arms of the Karolyi family is placed in the central oval field,
surrounded by an inscription about the deceased and decorated at the corners with
floral ornament. The central motive, the coat of arms of the family corresponds almost
perfectly with the one depicted in the diploma of awarding them the title of count.
Among the differences it can be mentioned that in the case of the epitaph the crown
on the shield only has 5 pearls instead of 11 and the trophy of weapons (flags, gun-
barrels, cannonballs, drums) was completed with additional elements (military pick,
trumpets, blue flags with two tails, similar to the flags of the Karolyi cavalry regiment,
two crossed field marshal batons).

The coat of arms is placed between an inscription divided into two parts, listing
the estates, the most important titles and the functions of the deceased. At the bottom
of this inscription a separate ribbon informs us about the time of death:*®

Ex[cellentissimus] ac I[llustrissimus] D[ominus] Com[es] D[ominus] Alexander
Karoly de Nagy Karoly Arc[ium] et D[omi]nior[um] Karoly Erdod Csongrad Megyer
Surdny Haer[editarius] D[omi]n[u]s

Slacrae] Rlegilae Malies]t[a]t[i]s Act[ualis] Int[imus] et Ex[celsi] Col[nsilii]
Rlegiae] Loc[um]t[enen]tis Con[siliarius] G[ene]ralis Campl[i] Mar[eschalli] Un[ius]
Reg[alis] Eq[uestris] Ord[inis] Col[onellus] I[nclycti] Co[mi]t[a]t[us] Szatmar[iensis]
Sup[remus] Comes et Prov[intia] Com[missionis] Dir[ector].

Obyt Die 8. 7[=septem]bris A[nno] D[omini] 1743 AEtat[is] Suae 75
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Fig. 4. Pattern of Sdndor Kérolyi's funeral coat of arm. National Archives of Hungary, Budpest.
P 392. Lad. 8. No. 207. Pencil on paper, in multiple assembly parts. 1744.
Photo: Erika Czikkelyné Nagy

Most probably the model for the pattern of the embroidery was the coat of arms
of the family from the diploma of donation or a copy of this drawing.*® (Fig. 4) In this
schematic pattern of the funeral coat of arms the following improvements can be no-
ticed: the armorial bearings above the helmets were enlarged, the abbreviated form of
the family name on the inscription ribbon was spelled out fully and the word “comitis”
was inserted in front of the name. The designer of this sketch sought accuracy primar-
ily in the elaboration of the main components of the coat of arm, the secondary and
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supplementary items such as the sym-
metrically organized trophies around
the shield were outlined only indicatively
and only the floral decoration of the up-
per right corner was worked out entirely.
Unfortunately, the embroiderer of
Sandor Karolyi’s funeral coat of arms
cannot be identified from the collection
of documents of the burial. We only have
a note in the chronicle (Historia Domus)
of the Piarist monastery in Nagykaroly
mentioning that the coat of arms was,
together with other funeral supplies, or-
dered from Pozsony (today Bratislava,
Slovakia). In support of this, some docu-
ments from the Karolyi Archives show
that the family employed an embroider-
er from Pozsony called Stephan Molnar
during this period. He was the designer
Fig. 5. Ferenc Karolyi's funeral coat of arm. of the ten flags and the drum flags deco-
The Collection of Ecclasiastical Art Meszlényi rated with the Karolyi coat of arm, which
Gyula, Szatmérnémet (today Satu Mare, Sandor Karolyi had made for his hussar
Romania). Embroidery on taft-silk. 1758. . . 0
Photo: Eva Puskas regiment in 1734"° and the funeral coat of
arm for Ferenc Kérolyi in 1759.* (Fig. 5)
As the coat of arms from the epi-
taph of Sandor Karolyi — regarding its structure, the embroidery technique and qual-
ity — corresponds with the coat of arm from the drum flags and from the epitaph of
Ferenc Kérolyi, we can conclude that it originates from the same workshop. Since the
coffin of the deceased was made in Pozsony, it seems plausible to assume that the six
coats of arms for the decoration of the coffin and the epitaph were ordered from the
same city too, from embroidery master Stephan Molnar (“Stephan Molnér biirgerliche
Goldstiicker” “Varré Molnér Istvan”), who had performed similar tasks for the family
beforehand and who might have had the sketches for the Karolyi coat of arm.

Sandor Karolyi’s coffin and its analogies

Today the coffin of Sandor Karolyi is situated in the crypt built by Miklés Ybl. So far,
the building and its interior furnishing, as well as the coffins with outstanding artistic
values escaped the attention of art historians. The literature on local history has noted
that the coffins of Sindor and Ferenc Karolyi as well as the coffin of Krisztina Csaky
belong to the same style and were made in Pozsony, but their statements were not sup-
ported by archival sources.
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Fig. 6. Krisztina Csaky'’s coffin. Karolyi family-crypt, Kaplony. Copper. 1736. Photo: Julia Bara

In chronological order the coffin with the earliest date of manufacturing belonged
to Krisztina Csaky, the wife of Ferenc Kérolyi. The countess died on February 28, 1736
and she was buried on March 20. According to the chronicle of the Piarist monastery
in Nagykaroly the coffin, which cost 300 Forints, was ordered from Pozsony along with
the painted coat of arms and other funeral supplies.** (Fig. 6.) This coffin, placed on six
craniums, has two parts: a box-like lower part following the contours of the wooden
coffin, and the coffin lid. The longer sides of the coffin have the same design: the cent-
ers are decorated with a putto surrounded by ornamental foliage, symmetrically en-
closed on both sides by a lion head. This is not just a decorative ornament, but it has
an important function as well as the clamps for the handles are fixed to it. While the
sinuous plant decoration continues as the shape narrows, a vanitas symbol appears on
the head line: a putto sitting on a volute and blowing bubbles, a reminder of the Latin
proverb “homo est similis bullae” or “homo bulla” (life is like a soap bubble). The upper
side closer to the head is also decorated with ornamental foliage and a lion head. The
lower side towards feet and the right side lengthwise cannot be studied, but they are
certainly following the design already presented. The sides of the coffin are connected
to each other with elements decorated with volutes at both ends.

The rounded corners of the coffin lid in the shape of a trapeze also have volute
design, but four putti (plump angels) rest on these with their wings closed in front of
their chest. In the axis of the longitudinal sides there is a human skull with crossed
shinbones beneath. The head side of the lid is decorated by a Baroque cartridge with
the painted coat of arms of the Kohdary family. The cover of the lid can be divided into
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Fig. 7. Sandor Karolyi's coffin with Ferenc Kérolyi's coffin in the background. Karolyi family-crypt,
Kaplony. Copper. 1744 and 1758/1759 respectively. Photo: Julia Bara

two parts. The head side is decorated by a relief depicting Christ’s crucifixion with the
figures of a praying man and a woman. At the side of the feet under a door decorated
with trumpet blowing angels a plaque is visible with an inscription related to the de-
ceased. On the entire surface of the coffin the figural representations are woven with
rich ornaments inspired by vegetation. The closest analogies for the coffin of Kriszti-
na Csaky are the coffins from the crypt under the Loretto Chapel in the Augustinian
church in Vienna.*®

The designs of the coffins of Sandor and Ferenc Karolyi follow this tradition, al-
though these are much larger in size and their ornamentation is enriched with new,
emblematic elements symbolizing the significant military role of the deceased. (Fig. 7.)
They are almost identical in design and they were certainly made in the same work-
shop.

The archival sources indicate that Ferenc Kérolyi initially wanted to order his fa-
thers’ coffin from a Viennese coppersmith, but because he fell ill after the conclusion
of the contract, Kérolyi ordered it from Pozsony in the end.** 14 years later the director
of the family’s estate ordered the coffin for the deceased Ferenc Karolyi from Pozsony
as well. According to the contract made with the coppersmith master Peter Eller, the
price of this last coffin was 650 forints, but he had to finish it in four months. He had to
follow the coffin model of Sandor Kérolyi, with a coat of arms on the front and with a
niche at the upper part for the portrait of the deceased and the plaque for the engraving
of the titles and functions.*

In light of these data we can conclude that the master of the two coffins was
the same person, coppersmith Peter Eller (civis cuprarius, nomunatus civis cuprarius,
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Burg. Kupferschmied) from Pozsony, who worked between 1726 and 1757. His name
appears several times between 1727 and 1740, as best man, in register of births, mar-
riage and deaths. Between 1729 and 1732 Eller worked with Georg Raphael Donner in
St. Martin’s Cathedral in Pozsony to prepare sculptures for decoration of the Chapel of
St. John the Almsgiver. In 1757 he completed the statue of St. Michael the Archangel,
the crowning statue of St. Michael’s Gate in Pozsony.*® There is no written information
regarding his studies and oeuvre, but his works should have been influenced by Don-
ner, with whom he worked in St. Martin’s Church. Other influence could have come
from the followers of Donner. Among them, some the most well-known were Johann
Nicolaus and Balthasar Ferdinand Moll, the masters of the tin sarcophagi of Emperor
Charles VL., Francis I and Empress Maria Theresa in the Imperial crypt in Vienna.*’

As mentioned before, the structure of Sindor and Ferenc Karolyi’s coffin follows
the pattern of Krisztina Csaky’s coffin. While the latter rests on six craniums, the form-
ers are placed on feet modelling helmets and breastplate wearing human skulls. On
their sides and lid the same number of very similar ornaments are visible. Beside the
repeated elements such as the clamped lion heads, friezes, volutes, bubbles blowing
putti, the skull with shinbones, the putto heads decorating the corners of the lid, the
iconographical program and the arrangement of the lid, there are some new elements.

In the middle of the longer side of the two coffins, the putto-head visible on Krisz-
tina Csaky’s coffin is replaced with military symbols such as flags, drums, cannon,
shield, breastplate, helmet with plume, mace, sword, pistol, hammer, marshal’s ba-
ton and so on. On its left side a new element appears representing an angel blowing
a trumpet. The heightening of the lid allowed the usage of a richer decoration. The
longer sides of the lid are ornamented symmetrically, the vegetal ornament showed on
Krisztina Csaky’s coffin is replaced with military symbols (shields, flags, drums, can-
nons, cannon balls, hammers, marshal’s baton, mace, pistol) arranged in four groups
on each side.

Although Ferenc Karolyi’s coffin is almost an exact copy of his father’s, the two
coffins differ in a few details. While the craniums holding up Sandor Karolyi’s sar-
cophagus are realistic, in the case of Ferenc Kdarolyi’s coffin, these become stylized and
mask-like. In the latter case, the putto
heads placed on the corners of the lid
have an individualized face and hairstyle,
wearing a breastplate under their wings,
while those on Sindor Kérolyi’s coffin are
schematic and simplified. In both cases,
the majority of the ornaments were pro-
cessed from separate copperplates and
applied on the coffin subsequently; how-
ever, those on the later coffin stood out
more boldly from the backgrounds and

even, as in the case of the corner-orna- Fig. 8. The coat of arm of the Kérolyi family
ments, became bigger. from Sandor Kérolyi's coffin. Karolyi family-
crypt, Kaplony. Copper, colored. 1744. Photo:

On the upper part of Sandor Kéro-
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lyi’s coffin lid there is a relief of the cru- ulla bara
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cifixion scene, beneath that a niche for
the portrait and inscription plate, closed
with a little door, which is decorated with
the inscription “1744” and the initials IHS
enriched with a cross, a heart and three
arrow figures. The Karolyi’s coat of arms
in both cases is moulded from a separate
copperplate and is attached to the head
sides of the lids. (Fig. 8.) The structure
and the coloring of the coat of arm from
Sandor Karolyis’ coffin is an exact copy of
the arms appearing on the diploma of do-
nation mentioned earlier. Under the door
of the niche a high-quality half-length
portrait of Sandor Kérolyi is placed. (Fig.
- 9.) Sandor Karolyi is depicted in front of a
Fig. 9. Sandor Karolyi's coffin portrait. Karolyi dark, uniform background with his head
family-crypt, Kaplony. Painted on copper. turned slightly to the left, with gray hair
1744. Photo: Julia Bara and moustache and wearing a short fur-
lined coat over a dolman, a rosette deco-
rated with precious stones and a plumed brown fur-capon his head. Unfortunately the
painter of the portrait is unknown. On the other hand it is known that Ferenc Kérolyi’s
portrait on his coffin —, which followed a similar technique, size and composition — was
painted by Daniel Schmidelli, a painter from Pozsony.*®

Other funeral supplies

The funeral supplies without doubt included a funeral coat of arms painted on paper
or silk as well, however, these did not survive the centuries. For the funeral of Ferenc
Karolyi in 1759, for example, 200 coats of arms painted on paper and 100 painted on silk
were ordered from Daniel Schmiddeli, the above mentioned painter from Pozsony.*
After the funeral sermon these, along with lit candles and torches, were distributed
among the people according to social rank. Women received candles only.*® Apart
from this, coats of arms were placed on the black-coated altars of the church from
Kaplony: three on the high altar and two on both side-altars.™

Unfortunately, the funeral flag was also lost. This was probably two-tailed, broi-
dered on black material and with the coat of arms of the Karolyi family, according to
the tradition and to the funeral flag visible on the drawing of Ferenc Karolyi’s funeral
process.”?

The items placed next to Sandor Karolyi’s bier were also an important part of the
funeral supplies. What these were we do not know exactly, but some visual sources
can be of help. The collection of the Hungarian National Museum has a full-length
portrait of Sdndor Karolyi that had been made slightly earlier, on which the count ap-
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pears in front of the scenes of the surrender on the Majtény (today Majcichov, Slovakia)
plain, dressed in festive clothes almost identical to the clothes visible on the funeral
portrait, wearing a fur headgear with a decorated crest of plumes, a sword in a jewelled
sheath and a gilded silver mace.”® From these elements the fur headgear appears on the
portrait from the coffin as well. However, in the archives of the Karolyi family more
sketches from this period for hat crests are preserved. The inscription on one of them
reveals that it was made from gold decorated with 100 precious stones and the same
number of pearls.”* In all probability similar military objects were placed around the
bier of the deceased count.

The different flags, the decorative horse tacks and the embroidered drum flags
and saddle blankets mentioned in the description where important elements of the
spectacle.

The funeral supplies include Sandor Karolyi’s castrum doloris as well. This ephem-
eral architectural construction was placed in the church from Kaplony and served as
a place for the coffin of the deceased. Unfortunately, we do not have visual sources to
research it, only a schematic written draft. This tells us that it was decorated with the
coat of arms of the deceased and of his parents (Laszl6 Karolyi and Erzsébet Segnnyey),
as well as of 27 emblems.** The tent-like building constructed for the bier on the day
of the burial was most probably a spectacular edifice as well. The fact that this venue
of the funeral sermon created an atmosphere similar to a theatre is reflected in the
description of the funeral, in which it is named “Theatris” or “Schau - Biinnen”.

The funeral of Sandor Kérolyi was an important event of the social representation
characteristic of the baroque era. It also underpinned his family’s cult. The supplies of
the funeral ceremony were used not only as visual elements of the ceremony, but later
they became the most important appurtenances of the crypt in Kaplony, proclaiming
the social status and pedigree of the deceased and his descendants.
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See the bill of the painter for Ferenc Kérolyi’s coffin portrait, written at 11" October
1759: MOL, P 1502, 7./4.b./Documents about Ferenc Karolyi’s funeral. 3.

MOL, P 1502, 7./4.b./Documents about Ferenc Karolyi’s funeral. 9.

MOL, P 1502, 7./4.b./Documents about Ferenc Kérolyi’s funeral. 69.v.

MOL, P 1502, 7./4.b./Documents about Ferenc Karolyi’s funeral. 56.

MOL, P 1502. 7./4.b./Documents about Ferenc Kérolyi’s funeral. (drawing. Dimen-
sion: 15x193 cm) Partly published in Szabd, 1989, 124—127.

Hungarian Historical Gallery, Inv. Nr. 83.7.

About the ornamental weapons of the Karolyi family: Ferenc Temesvary, “Disz-
fegyverek Karolyi-gytijteményébdl,” (Parade Armors from the Karolyi Collection)
Historia 1 (1979): Nr. 3, 35.

MOL, P 1501. 148. lad. /4.1. 285—263.



